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My name is Kindra Arnesen. I am submitting this statement on August 15, 2011, without any 
threats, inducements or coercion, to Shanna Devine, who has identified herself to me as an 
investigator with the Government Accountability Project. I am 34 years old. I’m a resident of 
South Plaquemines Parish Louisiana, which is at the mouth of the Mississippi River. When BP’s 
Deepwater Horizon exploded, I lived in Venice so I was one of the closest residents to the site of 
the spill, approximately 70 miles from the Deepwater Horizon explosion. I have since moved to 
a house that we’ve been rebuilding for six years, since Katrina.  I moved in the first week of May 
2011, and “For Sale” signs are still in the yard.  The reason that the “For Sale” signs are in the 
yard is because of BP’s negligence. I am very well aware of what oil spills can do to the unity of 
a community, to individuals, to children, to food sources, and everything that they touch and 
destroy. If sharing my experience can educate and help others, then I’ve done what I can do. I 
want people to understand what we’re dealing with.  
 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
I was born in California but raised in Plaquemines Parish since I was nine. My step dad was a 
commercial fisherman, so I have been on the water on and off since I was 12. I have done every 
kind of fishing you can do other than long lining. I know the area, I know the water, and I know 
the people. I’ve been on my own on and off since I was 14, so my community helped raise me. 
They are my extended family, so we worry about each other. After Katrina we all helped each 
other clear the yards and rebuild houses. If someone is trying to add skimmers on the boat, we 
get out of the truck and help them. If the boys go out and kill hogs, they butcher them and bring 
them to the old people. We help and take care of each other. 
 
My son was five and my daughter was eight when the spill began. After I learned about the 
public health threats of Corexit, I had to evacuate both of them. My daughter was already getting 
rashes within the first few weeks after the spill. Separating from them was the hardest decision I 
have ever had to make in my life, but I felt I responsibility to stay in my community and continue 
to try and get us help. Because I was an involved community member, I was given special VIP 
access as a volunteer community liaison to the Venice Operations Section of the Command Post 
in and the Incident Command Center in Houma, Louisiana.  
 
Money has been real tight since the spill. My husband is a fisher and not only is our catch over 
50 percent lower than it was this time before the spill, but we don’t want to sell what we’re 
catching; it’s coming back with oil in the meat of the seafood and even deformities. I’ve spent 
most of my life on the water, helping catch. My step-father was a fisher. I know what healthy 
seafood looks like, and I have never seen anything like our current catch. As another source of 
revenue I owned a BBQ restaurant, but I could not afford to stock it and pay our bills, so I left it 
closed this year.  
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2. JUST ANOTHER SPILL, OR NOT? 

 
My brother works offshore at times, so when the spill first took place our first concern was 
whether anyone was hurt. The workforce in Plaquimines Parish Louisiana is fisherman, oil field 
workers, and oil field support company workers. It is a very intertwined community. With some 
families, two brothers own a boat and have the same deckhand and alternate the captain job and 
the oil field job. So our first concern was where were the people on the rig, how many were 
killed, how many were hurt? We were talking about the families, too. Could we put any support 
groups together for them? 
 
We have ongoing oil spills here, nonstop. There have been six or seven around this peninsula in 
the last 17 months. They are not all massive. For example, a barge hit a well during the spill, in 
June or July, 2010 around Barataria Bay and it was spewing oil into the air. The spill was large 
enough to require a cleanup crew. Discharge of oil into the water is an ongoing issue here. We’ll 
go out there fishing, and there will be a 30 mile slick. If you go to the rig where the oil is pouring 
out the side like a black waterfall, call the Coast Guard, and go back two weeks later and it may 
still be discharging oil.  
 
The Deepwater Horizon spill wasn’t just another spill, though. It affected parts of our 
environment that are normally protected from oil. The Mississippi River is our source of 
drinking water. After the spill, they were allowing normal boat traffic to go through the oil and 
travel up the river without decontamination (“decon”) until after the cleanup was said to be 
finished. In effect, we were concerned that our drinking water was contaminated but the parish 
never confirmed it. At first there were not decon stations, but there should have been because the 
boats were exposed to dispersed oil. After we raised concerns about the lack of decon stations, 
BP put stations in to make it look like they were cleaning the boats, but they were not. They did 
not use the stations until the end of a boat’s job, if they even went to decon then. Many vessels 
were not cleaned by the decon stations at the end of the contract.  
  
My husband David is a commercial fisherman, in both state and federal fisheries. He fishes red 
snapper, mangrove snapper and lane snapper, beliners, king mackerel, grouper, pompano, blue 
fish, blue runner, shark, mullet, white shrimp and brown shrimp. David has been fishing 
throughout the northern Gulf since January 2011.He said there is broken up oil floating 
everywhere. This is not surprising because oil reached the marshland in Bay Jimmy and 
Barataria Bay. The marshes are the most important part of our estuary. The estuary is the nursery 
to the aquatic species in the Gulf, the estuary acts as a filter. Also, a large percentage of birds 
migrate through the estuary each year. However, instead of cleaning and removing the oil, after 
the spill BP started using barges with a backhoe to dig up the oiled marsh, place it in rollup 
dumpsters, and dump the contaminated marsh offshore in the Gulf.  
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During the 2011 season offshore fishers were catching amberjack, king mackerel, and mangrove 
snapper with holes in the walls of the stomach, and black sludge in their stomach that appeared 
to be leaking into the meat. We’re catching fish with lesions and growths that looked almost like 
a miniature brain. One of the fish looked like the growth was from his eye to his nose. We’re 
catching shrimp with no eyes, and crabs that have black all inside of them.  
 
I was raised to think spills were normal. When the Deepwater Horizon explosion happened, I 
figured the rig went down and they will clean it up, then we will move on with business. I’m 
ashamed of that, because I had no idea how much damage was really being done until I started 
researching this last year. It’s truly, truly sad what they have allowed to happen to the northern 
Gulf.  
 

3. WARNINGS FROM EXXON VALDEZ 
 
The first few days we were just worried about the people who were actually on the rig. Then we 
were upset when we saw that the media was invading personal privacy by trying to climb over 
fences toward the family members who were waiting for news about their loved ones who 
worked on the offshore rigs. The first week after the spill I met Riki Ott, a toxicologist who 
worked closely with workers and communities after the Exxon Valdez spill. She came to Venice 
and we had a very small intimate meeting with only commercial fisherman and their wives. It 
was at the local council woman’s restaurant for District 9, Marla Cooper. She is also the wife of 
the Vice President of the Louisiana Shrimpers Association, Mr. AC Cooper. At this meeting Riki 
started telling us the health symptoms to look out for. She explained how people from the Exxon 
Valdez spill had gotten really ill, that this was not a game or something to take lightly, and that 
we should demand respirators for the cleanup workers.  
 
At one point during the talk Riki said that the Exxon Valdez workers got sick, and then she 
jumped to a different topic. I raised my hand and asked her, “Well, what do you mean they got 
sick?” She started to explain the things that they ended up with and the medications they ended 
up on. It’s in the film Black Wave: The Legacy of the Exxon Valdez. She gave us a copy of the 
documentary and we took it home and watched it. It shows former Exxon Valdez workers with 
pill bottles all over the counter. I began to realize this isn’t a quick death or something that you 
are going to die from in five to ten years. This is going to be a long, drawn out, medically 
expensive ordeal. I knew early on that BP, the contractors and the government weren’t going to 
be providing respirators because none of the workers were wearing them. I have been pretty 
good at convincing people to do what I want them to do in my life, so I decided to get involved.  
 
Right after meeting with Riki, on the ninth day of the cleanup I went out to Breton and 
Chandelier Islands with a camera documentary crew and a local charter fisherman. That’s where 
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we first located dispersants, and then the first area that we located oil was about 15 miles from 
the islands. You can clearly see where the plane comes through and the strips where they sprayed 
the dispersant. There is no oil 15 miles anywhere in the area; it’s just dispersants in the water. 
My friend Sarah Cury had a friend who worked at Louisiana State University (LSU), so we took 
samples of the dispersant in the water and Sarah took them to LSU. Shortly after, we heard 
announcements that LSU was getting a lot of money and around the same time the samples 
disappeared. Sarah kept trying and trying and trying and trying to get a hold of her contact that 
she provided the samples to, but there was no response. This stuff got sticky quick; people were 
spooked, I guess.  
 

4. EVACUATE THE VULNERABLE 
 
After Hurricane Katrina, I had to live separate from my husband with my children. He came to 
Venice with a camper trailer. We were under martial law. At 5:00 pm there was curfew; no one 
was allowed to be on the roads. Emotionally we went through a lot. When you separate a family 
that is used to being together every single day - I fished with David every day for two years 
before we had Aleena - it really does something; I don’t know how David and I are still together. 
Once I started researching the health problems associated with the dispersant that was being 
sprayed, I realized that at some point I was going to have to take my children and separate them 
from their dad. Aleena was already starting to break out in rashes (detailed below). I knew David 
wasn’t going to leave; he was trying to get a job on the oil spill response, and I understood why. 
We had a family to look out for and figure out what we were going to do, and there was an 
opportunity to support us. 
 
From May through mid-June I would wake up every morning crying because I knew I was going 
to have to leave, and then I would finally get mad. I would stop crying and go out and do what I 
had to do. Then, at night when I slowed down I would cry again, because I knew we had to 
leave. My friend was expecting a baby, so I sent her a lot of literature about the public health 
threats from the dispersant, anything I could get. I didn’t want her on the Gulf Coast while she 
was pregnant. She was high risk and miscarriages were occurring more frequently during the oil 
spill, so I was persistent about her needing to leave. The second week of June my friend called 
me. I was standing on a dock waiting to board a boat to Barataria Bay. She said, “I’m taking my 
girls and I’m leaving.” I said, “Can you do me a favor? Can you go to my house and get my kids 
and take them with you?” That was the hardest decision I have ever had to make in my life, but I 
knew at that point in time I couldn’t leave. Because of the role that had dropped in my lap, I felt 
a responsibility to the people in my community.  
 
My friend went to my house, packed up my screaming children, forced them into her car and left. 
David and I fought about it the whole night. He was really upset with me that I didn’t leave with 
them, but there were several reasons and I felt I could send them with her and they would be ok. 
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People don’t realize what kind of problems a disaster of this scale causes. I felt so torn over it, 
but so obligated to my children’s wellbeing that I felt they needed to leave. I wanted to send 
them to a healthier environment even earlier during the spill, but we couldn’t afford to. 
 
We were in a trailer in Venice at the time of the spill. Katrina destroyed our home, but we didn’t 
settle with our insurance until August 2009. Right before the spill happened we bought 
everything to reconstruct our home. Then BP happened and it shut the project down. David has 
been working on it for six years, and redid it completely. We were finally able to move back this 
summer and now we need to sell it, because we can’t stay in this environment. We still aren’t 
over Katrina; we still have stuff we’re rebuilding. I had a BBQ restaurant, and we built my 
restaurant twice in two months. Because of the seasons I would only open it from the beginning 
of May until the second week of October after 2009.  The first three years after Katrina was a 
false economy, because we had all of the cleanup crews and people rebuilding in the area. After 
Katrina, I realized I could open it in mid-March and close in mid-October, make good money, 
and then be off most of the winter which freed me to be mom during the winter. So I had the best 
of best worlds. The restaurant didn’t pay my bills; it allowed us to go on vacations, shop and so 
forth.  
 
After the spill, I had a choice. I could either pay that month’s bills or I could stock the restaurant. 
I decided not to stock the restaurant; I left it closed. It is a good thing I did, because my mom 
manages the restaurant. I had to evacuate her with my kids the second time that my kids left 
Venice. My mom is 58, and she couldn’t breathe after they started spraying the dispersants. 
During the spill, when we walked outside of my house in Venice, 50 feet from my front door 
there was a gray haze from the top of the trees to the ground. She lived in a FEMA trailer, and it 
was around 200 feet from her dwelling to our mobile home. She would walk into the door and be 
completely out of breath, heart racing, sweating and completely white in the face. Before the 
spraying started my mom was working hard and was generally in fine health. She smokes, but 
she used to go back and forth to my house 20 times a day and would walk perfectly fine without 
breathing problems. She’s not the only one; there are other adults in our community who had no 
problems before the BP disaster and are now on rescue inhalers 
 
My friend that had our kids went into premature labor after only having the kids a few weeks, so 
I picked up the kids on July 4, 2010 and came back down to Venice with them. I only remember 
it was July 4 because as we were driving down the road, BP was throwing a big firework display 
at the local lodge for BP personnel, contractors and responders. They also invited the local 
public. Five days later I called our timeshare and said, “Where do you have a condo that you can 
send me?” On July 9 we pulled into Branson, Missouri. We stayed for a week, and then I called 
the timeshare again and asked, “Where can you send me?” We had enough money for gas and 
food. I had no choice; my mom couldn’t breathe and my daughter was breaking out in rashes, so 
I left. Within a week of leaving Venice, my mom was fine. Every time I took Aleena out of 
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Venice her skin would clear up. Then when I brought her back, she would break out in a rash 
again. She had little red dots, some were bigger than the others but it looked like something bit 
her. When it first happened I didn’t think too much about it, but it was all over her torso and not 
on the bottom of her legs or her arms where a mosquito would bite.  
 
The first week of the spill, we weren’t knowledgeable about what was going on and I still let my 
kids go outside to play. Then by the end of the second to third week I had read enough and 
started to get concerned. I put the bikes in the shed and drained the pool. When I found out 
chlorine was a binding agent with other chemical compounds, I decided it wasn’t a good idea for 
the kids to swim. I basically locked them up in our mobile home. PlaqueminesParish.gov would 
send outs automatic emails for the air sampling. The emails said “unusually sensitive people 
should refrain from exertion.” At the local town hall meetings officials told us to stay inside and 
turn our air conditioning on recirculation.   
 

5. OFFICIALS WARN, “STAY INSIDE, BUT EVERYTHING IS OK” 
 
On May 13, 2010 in Port Sulphur, Louisiana we met with Darryl Willis, BP’s public relations 
spokesperson for the spill, and representatives from the Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (OSHA), the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the Coast Guard. One of the representatives told us 
to refrain from exertion if we got headaches or nausea. I asked, “How do we do that?” AC 
Cooper asked the same thing. We, the community, were really upset at that meeting.  
 
At the meeting I asked Captain Stanton with the Coast Guard, “Don’t you think the squalls 
forming over the Northern Gulf are going to pick up some of these chemicals, bring them inland 
and dump them on people?” He replied, “Oh, no, we’re not spraying anywhere within 30 miles 
of land. We’re spraying 30 miles and further offshore.” We know they sprayed closer than that. 
But it wouldn’t matter anyway if they were only spraying 30 miles out, because the rain clouds 
form over the northern Gulf outside of the peninsula during the mid-summer and into the fall; 
anything sprayed within 70 miles of the coast could be swept inland. We warned the 
representatives that we would be exposed to the pollutants from the spill, and they were less than 
unconcerned. At that meeting I was in tears, I feared for my kids. I came to the realization of 
how bad the situation was and that we couldn’t rely on our government or the responsible party 
to recognize the problem, much less respond. When I walked outside Channel 10 asked me, 
“What are you going to do?” and I said, “I guess I am going to have to get my kids out of here, I 
have no choice.”  
 
My best friend’s six-year-old went to the beach in Biloxi in 2010. The commercials said, “The 
beach is fine, you all come down.” Four days after they left the beach her daughter slowly broke 
out in blisters all over from her knees to the ends of her toes, between her fingers and the mid-
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section on her arms from right behind her wrist up to the middle of her arm. She still has scars all 
over and broke out in blisters all over her face. She had a pre-existing skin problem. The people 
who have pre-existing conditions seem to be ten times worse than anyone who was what I would 
call normal before this happened. That’s the thing; parents knew their children’s health, and for 
us all to be talking now and seeing the same problems after the spill is alarming. When the kids 
went back to school this year they were breaking out in the same rashes, over a year and a half 
later.  
 

6. KIDS SICK, CAN’T GET TREATED 
 
Frank Wesley, the national director of The Children’s Health Fund based out of New York, came 
to speak with our community after the spill. During his visit another resident and I pushed for a 
medical unit. After the spill a lot of people lost their livelihoods, and a lot of people never got 
hired for the cleanup, so their income was shut down and I was concerned that a lot of parents 
would not have the money to see a pediatrician. In Venice, it is a seven and a half hour round trip 
to take a child to see a pediatrician because the closest one is in the West Bank across from New 
Orleans. Once you arrive, you have to sit there for three hours in our pediatricians’ offices 
because they are all overbooked since Katrina. The gas is expensive and time adds up. I was 
concerned that a lot of people would have to make the choice to not take their child to see a 
physician because they were not in a position to pay for it.  
 
After the Children’s Health Fund investigated the situation more, it brought in a pediatric 
medical mobile unit in Port Sulphur in October 2010. They started examining the kids in the 
community, having meetings with parents, and realized there was definitely a need for a medical 
unit to examine and treat the kids. When Frank visited he conducted a tour of the schools and 
met the principals. When he went to Boothville Elementary in Plaquemines Parish and they 
opened the medical closet, it was full of nebulizers. A nebulizer is a devise used to administer 
medication into a mist, which is then inhaled into the lungs to help with breathing. We have 400 
children in Boothville Elementary. How many nebulizers should we have? Where’s the red flag? 
What is causing that many breathing problems with that number of kids? That is abnormal. At 
Boothville Elementary we have sick kids all over the place who are suffering from upper 
respiratory infections, severe asthma, skin infections, blisters in between their fingers and arms 
and on their legs and their feet. Some kids have blisters all around their mouths and their noses. 
These kids were perfectly fine before the spill and the spraying of Corexit began.   
 
We went to the EPA, we went to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), we went to Gulf 
Coast Claims Fund Administrator Kenneth Feinberg, we went to BP, we went to our local 
officials, and no one cares to admit just how bad things really are. We were glad to get the 
medical mobile clinic, and I even went to the ribbon cutting. However, I spoke with Frank early 
on about the need to put the unit on the front road where people could see it so that it would be 
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utilized. It wasn’t being utilized for a long time, because they first placed it on a back road and 
parents didn’t know about it. Now the medical unit pulls out in front of the school. 
 
I will go through a few examples to demonstrate the scope of the problem, but there are many 
more. One of my neighbors has two grandchildren that she has helped raise. Both ran sports and 
were perfectly healthy before the spill. Now the oldest child has heart palpitations and his heart 
races. He has chest pains, and the younger one has bald spots all over his head where his hair is 
actually falling out, and he has frequent nose bleeds. In another family where the grandmother 
has raised her three grandchildren, the eleven-year old was just put on medication because she 
couldn’t stop throwing up. The doctors can’t figure out what is wrong with her; it’s been going 
on for months and months and months since the spill. They finally put her on some kind of 
stomach medication to control the nausea. The middle child is four years old; he has blisters 
from head to toe and upper respiratory infections. Before the spill, he was on antibiotics once in 
his entire lifetime. Since the spill he’s been on antibiotics fifteen times.  
 
My nine year old Aleena was a healthy, beautiful, vibrant, straight-A student, great kid. Now she 
is constantly sick, but it the last two months it has subsided some and I finally am at the point 
where I can talk about it. So far my six year old isn’t as bad as her, but he’s sick on a more 
regular basis than what he was before this happened. The government reported that the oil was 
gone and that Corexit had not been sprayed since July 2010. We believed them, so we brought 
Aleena and David back in August 2010. She has been sick with high fever, upper respiratory 
issues, and sinus infections every four to sick weeks like clockwork, from September 2010 until 
two months ago. Now she complains every day and every night that her stomach hurts, “Mommy 
I’m nauseous, I feel like I’m going to throw up.” 
 
They gave Aleena treatment last week at school, because she had an episode; she could not 
breathe due to the chest pain. She went from perfectly fine to getting winded and chest pains 
from limited exertion. One day she took off trying to fly a kite and dropped to her knees with 
chest pains. We were in a Girl Scout trip in north Louisiana in March 2011. These were flat 
roads, and we were just walking. She started having chest pains 15 minutes into the hike. The 
doctors have her on Flonase to treat nasal congestion and a rescue inhaler. We finally had her 
diagnosed at Children’s Hospital. They ran an EKG, which is a test that checks for problems 
with the electrical activity of your heart.  It came back abnormal, so they called us back to see a 
pediatric cardiologist.  
 
The cardiologist did the ultrasound on her heart and lymph nodes. A week later they called and 
told me she is ok. As far as her heart, they don’t know what the chest pains are due to and want 
to send her to a pulmonary specialist. Last week when she had the episode at school I brought 
her into the mobile medical unit. The doctor said he doesn’t think it is asthma. He thinks it’s an 
anaphylactic reaction, which is a life threatening type of allergic reaction. However, months ago 
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when I took her to him, he said it was anxiety attacks. A lot of people in my community are 
having breathing problems since the spill, however, the doctors keep saying that it is due to 
anxiety attacks. If they are having stomach issues and throwing up, the doctors say it is acid 
reflux. If they are having skin issues the doctors say it is scabies. Aleena’s breathing problems 
and chest pains may not have anything to do with BP, but it seems awfully convenient to me that 
she has gotten so ill repeatedly since I’ve brought her back to Venice. The doctors around here 
don’t make a connection, though.   
 

7. BP AND GULF DOCTORS IN DENIAL 
 
Originally we were told and it was announced in the media that a medical mobile unit, separate 
from the pediatric mobile medical unit, was being brought into Venice by Health and Human 
Services (HHS). The media and local politicians announced that it would be for residents and 
workers. People who used it had to be triaged and sent in to see their doctor behind a security 
gate with BP security officer’s line. The medical mobile unit was located in a BP compound.   
 
In mid May 2010 I began breaking out in bumps that would turn into skin lesions. It continues to 
this day, though it is not as bad now. Two skin disease doctors told me it is staph, but the doctors 
at local medical clinics and at the medical unit insist it is scabies. I’ve been in Venice most of my 
life and scabies don’t run rampant down here, yet the local doctors and medical unit continue to 
diagnose people with scabies. If it is scabies, it isn’t BP’s problem because it is a parasite. It 
started in my eyes in the middle of May 2010. It went from my eyes to little blisters on my neck, 
my chest and my shoulders. Two months later, at the end of July I woke up and found three 
knots in the back of my right leg. Within 24 hours it was nine knots and within 48 hours it was 
27 knots. .  
 
On July 26, 2010, the second day after I broke out with these knots on my leg I went to a skin 
disease specialist in Hammond, Louisiana who diagnosed me with staph. I asked the specialist 
“Can this be from scabies?” because I wanted to get rid of it. It was horrible huge holes. He told 
me, “Kindra, you don’t have scabies.” I asked, “How can you be sure?” He showed me a book 
with an adult’s arms that show where the scabies looks like something goes into the skin and 
makes a tunnel. Later I went to an infectious disease doctor in New Orleans because I needed 
surgery on my back, and I had to be cleared for the staph before the surgery. They said it was 
staph too, and that it couldn’t have anything to do with scabies. I had two specialists telling me it 
was not scabies at the same time people from our area was breaking out in the same type rashes 
and being diagnosed with scabies.   
 
On July 27, 2010 I was in the heat all day passing out gift cards to people who didn’t have a job 
and needed food money. By 5:00 pm I went to my house in Venice and told my husband 
something was wrong. I asked him to pull my jeans off because it hurt, and there were 27 knots 
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when he counted. The knots were really hard. The biggest one went from the tips of my fingers 
to the back of my palm, and was on the very top of my left leg right below my buttocks. It was 
horrible, the worst thing I’ve ever had to deal with. I have had adult acne since I’m 19. This is 
nothing like acne. It was so painful, and still is. When they first started there was no break in the 
skin; I thought something bit me, just as I had thought with Aleena at first. They itched and were 
the size of a green pea, but by the first night the knots on my leg swelled rapidly and it continued 
to escalate.  
 
The night that it turned into 27 knots I went to the Plaquemines Parish Medical Clinic in Port 
Sulphur. I asked for a white blood cell count, and to test my thyroid because I had lost 33 pounds 
in six weeks. The doctor gave me a shot of antibiotics, did tests, came back and told me, “You 
have scabies.” I told her, “I don’t have scabies. I am aware that you and the medical mobile unit 
that are behind secure lines down at the BP operation section are diagnosing people that have 
skin problems with scabies. That is why I went to a skin disease specialist in Hammond and was 
diagnosed with staph.” I asked her, “Why are you diagnosing people with scabies? You’re asking 
them to put 5 percent Elimite cream on their bodies which is a pesticide. They already have all of 
these chemicals in their body, and you are misdiagnosing them and treating them for something 
that they don’t have, while not treating them for the real ailment.” 
 
I guess she was mad and decided to hit me in the pocket, because I went to check out and it was 
over $290. I asked what the codes were for and the assistant said that it was a liver and kidney 
test, thyroid test, glucose test, and a test for bacteria in my blood. I had bacteria in my blood, but 
it couldn’t be identified until it went to the main lab for further testing. They took all of these 
extra panels that I didn’t ask for or authorize. The doctor came out after I questioned the charges 
and said to me, “You asked for the test; you get what you ask for,” and walked into the back. It’s 
an embarrassing situation when you pay a physician to do a job and they do something like that; 
I felt helpless. It feels like we’ve been scoped out and lied to, and at this point who can we trust? 
 
When I got home from the clinic I soaked in two pounds of Epson salt and two pounds of baking 
soda and hot water, every two to four hours. It basically stopped the break out. When I got out of 
the bathtub I sprayed it with peroxide, then alcohol, then benodine and triplot antibiotic cream 
and covered it with big bandages for the seepage because some of the knots burst and big chunks 
of rotten meat came out. Once I started the baths I didn’t break out with more. Then I broke out 
again with one knot on September 27, 2010. It was my husband’s birthday; we buried his dad 
that morning, and I broke out with staph that night.  
 
To this day, when I get the blisters on my shoulders, they are little blisters that come up and turn 
green within a couple of days and pop. When they pop sometimes other ones will break down 
around it and it gets worse. I usually wipe my legs all day long with alcohol. It hurts like 
somebody has really, really, really cut you or it’s a burn, and it doesn’t go away like a pimple 
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would. These little spots will stay on my arm for about four or five weeks until they will go away 
and then all of a sudden the other arm will pop up with them all over the place.  
 
The workers had skin issues too, and breathing problems and headaches. My husband is 44 years 
old. He was perfectly fine before this happened; he was the type of guy who would get sick once 
every couple of years, and now he’s sick all the time. He wakes up, and the first thing he says 
when he starts to gets sick is “I’m dizzy.” Since the spill he has had high fever and upper 
respiratory infections, to the point where his ears get blocked up and brown liquid starts flowing 
down his ears. I know of a worker who went blind, had kidney failure, was passing blood and 
had rectal bleeding, and a lack of muscle control. I know another girl whose face and hands 
began jumping after the spill, as if she had an involuntary twitch, but it was the muscle in her 
face and hands. Now it is common for people around here to have muscle spasms, and for people 
to hurt from head to toe for no apparent reason all of a sudden. I went through that right before I 
broke out in staph.  
 

8. BP AND GOVERNMENT TOWN HALL  
 
On May 24, 2010 we had a town hall meeting. It was announced that Captain Roger Laferriere 
would replace Captain Edwin Stanton for the Coast Guard. At that meeting I stood up and got 
into a combative conversation with an EPA representative. On May 20 the EPA had issued a 
directive to BP to consider less toxic dispersants than Corexit, so at the meeting I asked if the 
EPA now endorsed the dispersant? He kept trying to talk around the question and I said, “No sir, 
this is a yes or no answer. Does the EPA currently endorse this dispersant, or does the EPA not 
endorse this dispersant.” I finally got him to say “Yes, the EPA does endorse it…” The crowd 
cheered, because it took about ten attempts to get him to answer the question.  
 
Then the floor was handed to the BP representative and I asked him, “BP says that you are going 
to be in this long-term, what is long-term and are you willing to put it in writing?” He kept 
saying, “Well, long-term is long-term.” I said, “No sir, is it going to be six months, one year, five 
years?” He said, “When the federal government tells us that we fulfilled our responsibility then 
that will be long-term, however, BP has many assets in the northern Gulf and we have been here 
for 30 years.” I responded, “No sir, the federal government doesn’t have anything to do with this. 
Our trip tickets will tell you when we can make 100 percent of our income; that is when your 
responsibility will be fulfilled.” Then I talked to Captain Stanton a few minutes and asked him 
questions.  
 
One of the community’s main concerns has been the protection of our estuaries. A lot of people 
don’t understand how important the estuary is. Estuaries are the kidney of the United States; it is 
where all the pollutants go through, and your estuaries clean all of that out before it goes into the 
Gulf or whatever body of water the estuary borders. There are tens and thousands of acres of 
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estuaries; it looks like a lot of water, but it’s really a lot of land broken up. It’s important for the 
whole Gulf because a lot of juvenile fish come into the estuary to mature.  
 
After the spill, the local fishermen sat down with me and we took several nautical maps and said 
“OK, they have a lot of current that comes in and out of this pass for tide, no current here, this is 
closeable, this is closeable…” and marked up the map for estuaries that needed to be preserved. 
A week before the town hall meeting, in mid-May the oil was projected to hit the west side of the 
peninsula so several fishermen and I went out there. Within a 35-mile span, which is the distance 
of the coast line between Venice and Grand Isle, there was not one response boat or piece of 
boom. There was one spot with 150 feet of sand bags dropped off to close one gap. They had a 
month to prepare before the oil was projected to hit one of the largest estuaries in southeast 
Louisiana, and they did nothing other than place 150 feet of sandbags. 
 
Toward the end of the meeting I was talking to Plaquemines Parish President Billy Nungesser, 
and Captain Laferriere approached me and introduced himself. He shook my hand and said, 
“You seem like you’re really involved with your community, we would like to give you a 
citizens tour.” I said, “Really, that sounds cool. Why don’t you step into the backroom for a 
second? Since you’re taking over, I want to show you something from our perspective.” The 
Captain and Darren Angelo, Billy Nungesser’s right hand man throughout the spill response, 
came in the backroom of the gym. There was no table, so I spread the nautical maps on the floor. 
I explained that we wanted them to close off as much of the estuary as possible to protect it from 
oil; we wanted them to close the whole coastline in that area. We knew that it was possible 
because we have seen projects of that scale take place; since Hurricane Katrina the government 
has come up with a lot of money and built levees out in the water along the coastline. 
 
After looking at the maps, I also told the Captain that I knew people on the land and peninsula 
who were getting ill, and that there were several issues I wanted to address with him. He said, 
“OK, we want you to come down to our base of operations in Venice and meet with our 
lieutenant commander and we’ll move forward from there, but we definitely want to put you on a 
chopper and give you a tour.” I guess at that point he didn’t realize how much of this area I really 
do know, because he tried to send me locations that were not heavily impacted by the oil spill. 
 

9. VIP ACCESS AND BP OPERATIONS 
 
After the town hall meeting my family and I were gone for six days. We returned, and the first 
week of June 2010 I went down to the Operations Section on Coast Guard Road in Venice and 
met with Coast Guard Lieutenant Commander Pat Eiland for the first time. He brought me into 
the office and told me I needed to come down the next morning at 10:00 am to the local heliport 
in Venice to meet him to have my first flyover. I asked if I could bring a video camera and 
camera, and he said yes. He brought me out there, put me on as a “BP Volunteer and Operations 
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Section” and gave me an ID card. I didn’t know if I was legally bound; I was not fully informed 
at that point, and I didn’t really know what was going on.   
 
They flew me out of the west side of the peninsula over Barataria Bay. What they didn’t realize 
at the time is my husband was not just a bird boat; David was the bird boat to pick up oil birds. 
He had a 34 foot crusader with tarp pulling in from the front of the cabin all the way to the stern, 
so the veterinarian liked his boat for bird transport. The whole thing was covered and the 
veterinarians would not put the birds on anybody else’s boats. The little boats went out and 
caught the birds, brought them to the veterinarians in Grand Isle, and then David went and 
picked them up with his boat and brought them to Port Sulphur. When he went from Venice to 
Grand Isle he would come through the Gulf side if it wasn’t rough, or else he would have to go 
through Barataria Bay. The day before I flew, it was rough and he went through Barataria Bay. 
The next day when I flew there was response everywhere; boats everywhere, boom everywhere, 
people everywhere. I later found out that I flew at 10:00 am that morning, and President Obama 
flew at 2:00 pm that afternoon.   
 
The day after I flew, it was rough and David had to go back to Barataria Bay. I asked him “What 
is the clean-up response in Barataria Bay look like today?” He said, “Kindra, there is no 
response.” The day before President Obama flew and I flew, there was no response as well. I had 
an open door invitation to go into the 8:00 am meetings at the Venice Operations Section. At the 
morning meeting they discussed logistics for the following 24 hours. I observed that the 
meetings moved really fast and there were a lot of people crammed into one room. There was a 
u-shape of tables put together; two on each end, the long white six-foot tables and then a table in 
the middle. There were representatives from BP Logistics, BP Safety, Plaquemines Parish, 
Plaquemines Parish Sheriff Office, EPA, weather monitoring, several Coast Guard members, 
HHS, contractor bosses, what seemed to be all of the head honchos.  
 
The first time that I met with Lieutenant Commander Eiland I went to the morning meeting and 
they were showing me all of these maps on the wall. Then this young Coast Guard member 
walked in, threw his hands up in the air and shouted “Ponies and Balloons, Ponies and 
Balloons.” When he turned and noticed that I was sitting in the other chair, he had an awkward 
expression and quickly walked out. I did not understand what he meant by Ponies and Balloons, 
until I witnessed the staged response for President Obama’s flyover the following day. You stage 
a response on the ground, a politician flies through and says “good job fellas,” flies out and then 
they pick up the operation, move it somewhere else and continue to spray the area with 
dispersant, rather than mechanically clean the oil through boom and skimmers.  
 
After the first helicopter trip, I asked Lieutenant Commander Eiland, “Do I have to keep these 
photos and video to myself, or can I give them to anyone?” He said, “Kindra, I don’t care what 
you do with them.” I was like, “Hmm, well maybe this isn’t such a cover-up after all.” I left, and 
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that night Captain Laferriere called me and asked “Hey, how was the flight?” I said “The flight 
was good, but I know this area Barataria Bay is a very small part of it and I know what your aim 
is.” He replied, “Really, what’s that?” I said, “Your aim is to convince a community member that 
you guys are doing a superb job. The only way you are going to get me to convey that back to 
our community is if you show me the entire situation. I want to see it all.”  
 
Throughout June, 2010 they granted me clearance, and basically anytime I wanted a boat, I got a 
boat. If I wanted to get on a chopper, I got to go out on a chopper. At one point I got in a Coast 
Guard plane with a media tour and flew out to the Deepwater Horizon and viewed it. For the 
most part, they tried to do the things that would appease me. The boat was the easiest thing to 
get. Usually I would have to wait a few days for the flight, and I would have to have a special 
Coast Guard escort with me everywhere I went.  
 
During the first few weeks that I was in there, I was quiet. I felt like it was a learning experience 
and I needed to keep my mouth shut; be like a fly on the wall and not say anything. I was just 
learning their process and what different terms meant that they would say. However, the more I 
saw, the less likely I was to be an “appeased community member.” I was disgusted by everything 
I was seeing. After about a week into my access, I was very disappointed. During the flights I 
didn’t see any hard boom. There was a little absorbent boom that was rotten and broken loose. 
From what I saw, the boom was never positioned where the oil was hitting. These were huge 
bays with some scattered boom and about 10,000 feet gaps in between these pieces of soft boom. 
It was so pathetically handled that it’s not funny.  Everything that I saw when I was out there was 
ponies and balloons, a big show for the politicians. It was a show for the media as well; BP set 
up a spot at the end of South Pass, Louisiana to take the media. A lot of the pictures look the 
same because they were all staging areas that BP would fly media over and take them to. I was 
taken there once, and I asked not to be brought back again.   
 

10. INCIDENT COMMAND POST Q&A 
 
I went to one meeting at the Houma Incident Command Post. We flew out of there to go to the 
Deepwater Horizon site. Before the meeting, I had a two-hour conversation with the Coast Guard 
Deputy Safety Officer. I asked him about the use of respirators for workers, and he told me the 
following key points: A respirator should be used as the last resort; if workers start to feel sick, 
evacuate the area and also request evacuation of the area; air monitoring is being done and the 
tests are coming back well below dangerous levels of volatile organic compounds; if workers to 
get respirators, they have to first fill out OSHA medical questionnaire; everyone filling out the 
questionnaire, before they can retain a respirator, had to have an evaluation with physicians; 
physicians were only looking for healthy people to wear respirators; lungs may be compromised; 
it is hazardous to wear masks; and asthma patients, people with chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease (a type of lung disease), emphysema and enlarged hearts couldn’t wear respirators. I 
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asked him about OSHA’s right to wear voluntary respirators. He said, “Without the air sampling 
exceeding the limits, the workers still fell under BPs rules. As long as BP says they can’t wear 
respirators, then they don’t have a job if they wear respirators.”  
 
Two days later I went to the Incident Command Center in Houma. Went I first went in, they had 
to give me my Operation Section Clearance. However, the Coast Guard Deputy Safety Officer 
was assigned as my escort around the facility, and when he looked down at my ID he said, 
“Operation Section? You don’t have to have an escort, you can go anywhere.” I walked off and 
started looking around. I didn’t know what I was looking for, but I was trying to obtain whatever 
information I could. I toured the facility and went out to get on the plane, but my escorts weren’t 
ready to meet so I toured the facility further. Most of what I observed was just crazy numbers 
and a lot of maps all over the walls. 
 
I met with my escort, BP safety officer Rusty Thibodaux and OSHA representative Dean Wingo. 
I sat down at a table with them that evening, and went over the same health concerns that I 
discussed with the Coast Guard Deputy Safety Officer a few days earlier. Every time I asked a 
question, depending on who the question was about, one of them would pop in with a response. 
They were polite, and we sat there for a while discussing my concerns, but we did not get 
anywhere. The OSHA representative wanted to know, “If your kids are breaking out in rashes 
and children and adults are having respiratory issues, for the rashes have you guys changed your 
laundry soap, etc.” I said, “We’ve changed nothing. The only thing that has changed in our 
environment is BP.” I discussed the fact that when we come out of our front door, there is a gray 
haze from the top of the trees to the ground. I said, “Something is not right.”  
 
I went to our local representatives Billy Nungussar, Marla Cooper, the EPA representative, BP’s 
offshore head of cleanup Fred Lamond, and Lieutenant Commander Eiland, about the health of 
pregnant women, children, the elderly and anyone with a preexisting condition. I got next to 
nothing back from BP and the government, other than explanations for why they were taking the 
approach they were, and not evacuating people.  
 
I asked Lieutenant Commander Eiland over and over again, “If you lived here, would you 
evacuate your family?” He said, “Well, Kindra, I guess that I’m not in that position so I can’t 
make that choice for you.” I asked him, “Well, what should I do? What would you do in my 
position? Talk to me, tell me.” He always diverted, did anything he could do not to talk about it, 
and then something happened. The day after I evacuated my kids the first time I had to deliver 
paperwork for a special boom to the BP Operations Section. The problem with boom is that it is 
never high enough and the skirts are never long enough. I found a system where the boom sits 
three to four feet off the water; it is filled with the same foam that the unsinkable boats are filled 
with. The skirt can be 12 to 16 feet long, and it is linked together with cable and anchored down 
with really heavy anchors every 12 foot links. I found a man in Florida who sold this stuff; what 
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I call super boom.  
 
The man who sold the super boom drove from Ft. Lauderdale to Venice, and I drove him to the 
BP Operations Section, walked in, and met with Lieutenant Commander Eiland, BP’s Mr. 
Lamond, and two contractors I wasn’t familiar with. They looked at the product in the parking 
lot and agreed to buy 3000 feet of it for a trial, at $75 a foot. I was responsible for bringing the 
documentation back to Lieutenant Commander Eiland, so that they could handle the paperwork 
with BP. I looked at him and said, “I evacuated my kids yesterday.” He looked at me right in the 
eyes and said, “You are smarter than the average bear,” and went right on to talking about 
something else. What did they know that we didn’t know? 
 

11. LESSONS LEARNED, CONGRESSIONAL BRIEFINGS 
 
I’ve been burnt plenty of times over the years trying to work with difficult people, but I’ve 
opened my door and worked with just about anybody who walked through it. All I wanted was 
for the truth to come out, and that’s all I still want; to hold BP accountable and pay the people 
who were hurt, take care of the people who were poisoned. What have we learned as a country 
from this situation moving forward? The Norwegian company that investigated the blowout 
preventer found that it is engineered to only work 65% of the time. When I went to Washington, 
DC and met with congressional members and participated in a Senate briefing, that was one of 
the issues that I brought up repeatedly, “How can we move forward using the same blowout 
preventer in future leases and drilling? Why can’t we newly engineer a blowout preventer and 
minimize that 35 percent gap with the technology we have?” They are using a blowout preventer 
that cannot withstand the pressure, but they continue to use it because it meets industry 
standards. The standard needs to change. In response, all I have gotten from officials is some 
variation of “protect the oil company, protect the oil company.”  
 
I went to Washington, DC for a Congressional briefing to meet with elected leaders, including 
Representative Steve Scalise (R-LA), Representative Jeff Landry (R-LA) and a few Senate 
offices. I walked into Represenative Landry’s office with Ryan Lambert, Vice President of the 
Louisiana Charter Boat Association, and Regan Nelson, a Natural Resources Defense Council 
(NRDC) lobbyist. The Congressman was late for the meeting, then all of a sudden he blew 
through from his office into the foyer area into the other office and slammed the door. A few 
minutes later he came out and said, “I’m real sorry you all, I have a committee meeting to go to, 
I won’t be able to sit with you today.” As he turned, our eyes were locked and I looked at him 
and said, “Congressman, I flew all the way here from Venice, Louisiana for five minutes of your 
time. I expect five minutes of your time.” He looked me and said in a loud voice, “You have five 
minutes.”  
 
We walked into his office, leaned on his desk, crossed his arms and bowed up at me. I said, “I 
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know you’re a busy fellow, I appreciate your time and I’ll make this as quick as possible.” That’s 
all I got out of my mouth before he started screaming at us and talking about how educated he 
was. Then he started telling me all this stuff about the history of oil companies and the mistakes 
they made and that everything was still fine, including the shrimp. A few times I tried to get my 
point on the blowout preventer in and the importance of making sure the fishermen got paid and 
others who were affected, but he just kept screaming at me. He also kept pointing his finger at 
Regan and said to me, “You come in here with these people trying to shut my oil industry down; 
I don’t think so.”  
 
I looked at him and finally said, “Congressman, why are you screaming at me?” When I said that 
I felt my voice crack and he continued raising his voice. I finally said, “That’s it, I’m done” and I 
went to walk out the door. He said, “Oh, no mam” and I said “Yes, sir” and slammed his door. It 
sounded like a bomb went off; I made sure it was loud, I was mad. We had the Senate briefing 
that morning and everyone was civil. I cried through the earlier meeting because they showed the 
StoryCorp video that NRDC helped produce with of all of my friends and family in the Gulf who 
were torn up and sick, and of the fish dying.  

 
12. WHOLE WAY OF LIFE AFFECTED 

 
This isn’t just about money for us. This isn’t just about an income. This is a whole way of life; 
we depend on the Gulf for everything. We depend on the Gulf to water our plants, we depend on 
the Gulf for our recreation, we depend on the Gulf for our income, and we depend on the Gulf 
for our social life. People go all over the place on the fourth of July. However, we would always 
go up to a private beach that no one can access unless they have a boat and know how to get 
there. It is all locals, and we set up tents and fires and BBQs. Before the spill we did everything 
on the water. We can’t do that now. 
 
My family and I have gone to check out the fisheries in North Carolina, because we are hoping 
to move. Normally we would stop in Destin and the Emerald Coast in Florida, but we spent all of 
our time in North Carolina. I’m torn, I don’t know what is and isn’t safe and I can’t trust 
anything that our government says. I am a very different person than I was a year ago. I used to 
think that we could pay our taxes, work hard, be productive members of society and raise our 
children to be productive members of society as well. We would work hard and be able afford to 
give them something we never had. David and I both came from nothing; we built everything we 
have, twice in twelve years.  
 

13. CONCLUSION  
 

Given the state our government and society are in, how are we doing our part to raise our kids to 
be productive members of an unproductive society? I feel obligated to do whatever I can do to 
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try to make some kind of change but before the spill I had no clue how bad things were; I 
thought I lived in the best country in the world. I still think that to a large degree but the politics 
are so corrupt.   
 
I don’t want to be in Venice anymore. Everywhere I go people call me the BP kid or the BP girl, 
“Hey, what’s BP doing today that you’re pissed off about?” After fixing the house, now we have 
to sell it, because I can’t stay in the Gulf anymore. I don’t want to sell seafood; I don’t want to 
sell a product that I won’t put in front of my own children. I cannot see staying here waiting for 
things to completely fall apart. Hopefully the Gulf will bounce back, but as oil spills continue I 
just don’t see how it is possible. I hope that this never happens to a community again. Change 
must happen.  
 
 






















